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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

FREDRICK W. ELLIS,  

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v.

KETCHIKAN PULP COMPANY,

                                                 Employer,

                                                 and

ALASKA TIMBER INSURANCE EXCHANGE,,

                                                 Insurer,

                                                 and 

 ART’S CLEANING SERVICE,

                                                 Employer,

                                                   and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO.

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case Nos. 199307678, 198927513
        AWCB Decision No. 02-0051 

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         March 19, 2002

We heard the employee’s request for benefits on February 7, 2002, at Anchorage, Alaska.  The employee represented himself in this matter.  Attorney Clay Young represented employer Ketchikan Pulp Company (“KPC”).  Attorney Robert McLaughlin represented employer Arts Cleaning Service (“Art’s”).  We held the record open at the conclusion of the hearing in order to allow the parties to file additional medical records with the board.  After we received medical records from all parties, we closed the record when we next met on February 19, 2002.


ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits and time loss benefits from Art’s?

2. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits and time loss benefits from KPC?

3. Is the employee’s claim against KPC time-barred under AS 23.30.105(a)?

4. Is the employee entitled penalties and interest?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
The employee has a history of a back injury in 1975 while pulling on a cant at a spruce mill.
  At the hearing, the employee admitted he had a back injury in 1975, but he stated he recovered from that injury and continued to work.  The employee first began working for KPC in December of 1987.
  On July 13, 1989, Daniel Prudich, M.D., provided the employee with a disability certificate and took the employee off work for thirty days to participate in an alcohol withdrawal program. 

On October 25, 1989, the employee stated he injured his “back, legs and eyes” while working for KPC as a utility trucker.  Specifically, the employee stated he was injured pushing left, while facing forward and turning a bale.
  The employee initially treated with James Wilson, M.D., who prescribed bed rest and pain medication.
 KPC accepted compensability of the employee’s injury paying temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits from October 31, 1989 until November 3, 1989.
  The employee then treated with Joseph Shields, M.D., who diagnosed a “possible L3-4 disc with some mild quads weakness, improving.”  Dr. Shields also released the employee to work on November 3, 1989 stating:

Since the patient is improving and very badly wants to go back to work and feels that he can and feels that he can work around things, I would authorize a work release on a trial basis, although he probably should be on light duty work release.  However, he says that that is not possible and that he really feels he can do regular work.  If he does not continue to resolve this back to his normal state, I would recommend a CT scan.

According to the Shift Superintendent’s Absence Worksheet, the employee called in sick on November 30, 1989 with an old back injury.”  On December 4, 1989, the employee treated with Thomas Edwards, M.D., who noted the employee reported increased pain in his lower back with extension into both thighs, left more than right.  He reported the employee had returned to work on a trial basis, however he stopped working when the back pain worsened on November 30th.  Dr. Edwards determined the employee aggravated or exacerbated his back condition.  He concluded, based on the history, physical findings and CT Scan testing, the employee did not suffer a significant disc lesion, but rather a back strain.  Dr. Edwards recommended the employee limit his activities to light duty, as well as a course of physical therapy.
  The employee also treated with Dr. Shields on December 4, 1989.  Dr. Shields concluded the employee’s “condition has worsened in past 4 days.  Only light duty until rechecked.”  Dr. Shields also recommended a six-week course of physical therapy.

At the hearing, the employee testified he tried to return to work with his light-duty work release.  However, he was fired on December 7, 1989 for violating a “Last Chance Agreement” he had entered into with KPC on September 8, 1989, which required him to attend 90 daily Alcoholics Anonymous meetings in 90 days.  The employee stated he missed some of those meetings because of his back condition.  According to the board’s file, KPC sent the employee written notice of termination on December 14, 1989, citing the employee’s failure to comply with the Last Chance Agreement.  The employee testified he went without resources for awhile after he was terminated, but he eventually obtained unemployment benefits for about one year.  We take administrative notice, based on records contained at the Alaska Department of Labor, that the employee received unemployment benefits from December 30, 1989 through June 23, 1990 and again from December 23, 1990 through April 20, 1991.  In addition, the employee testified he tried to contact an insurance company, but he was told he had no coverage.

Physician’s Reports demonstrate the employee underwent physical therapy for a lumbosacral strain from December 20, 1989 through January 17, 1990.  On December 27, 1989, the employee returned to Dr. Shields, who referred the employee to orthopedic surgeon Ken Leung, M.D., in Seattle, Washington due to the employee’s lack of improvement.  However, on January 30, 1990, Dr. Shields’ chart note indicates “Pt called & said he had cx above appt with Dr. Leung.  Asked if there was anything more we could do for him.  Msg left with Mother that this point no.”  The employee testified he tried to secure the money to travel to Seattle for treatment with Dr. Leung, but he was unsuccessful.

On three separate occasions in August, September and October of 1990, the employee treated at the Ketchikan General Hospital Emergency Room for chronic alcoholism.
  In March of 1991, the employee again went to Ketchikan General Hospital for right otitis media and chronic alcoholism with probable alcohol cirrhosis.
  The employee then sought treatment for his back on August 12, 1991, when he went to orthopedic surgeon James Kullbom, M.D., who had taken over Dr. Shields’ practice, for an examination for the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation.  The employee complained of back pain and right leg pain.  The employee reported intermittent back and right leg pain since his work injury in October of 1989.  Dr. Kullbom noted x-rays revealed narrowing of the L5-S1 disc space.  Dr. Kullbom opined the employee should be retrained “into something that is obviously of a non-labor category.”

On August 31, 1992, the employee began working at Art’s as a custodian.
  On April 26, 1993, he reported injuring his back, legs, stomach and shoulder after “the lifting, twisting, stooping, bending, turning aggravated my entire body to where it could not stand it any longer.”
  At the hearing, the employee testified he worked at Art’s as long as he could with back pain, until he could no longer work and had to go to the emergency room.  The report of occupational injury states the employee claimed “he was suffering from a degenerative disk in his back that was diagnosed 2.5 years ago.  Employee states he would complete his shift & then go to the emergency rm.”
 

Dr. Dietz examined the employee at Ketchikan General Hospital Emergency Room on April 27, 1993.  The employee reported a flare-up of back pain in the previous two weeks.  He could not recall a specific injury that would have caused the flare-up, though he noted he worked as a janitor.  The employee reported intermittent back pain since the October, 1989 work injury.  According to Dr. Dietz: “He states that pretty much anything he does causes minor back pain but that he feels compelled to work in order to have income.  He has been taking large amounts of Tylenol for his back pain with minimal relief.”  Dr. Dietz gave the employee a work release for one week and referred him to Dr. Kullbom. 

On May 5, 1993, the employee returned to Dr. Kullbom with complaints of neck stiffness, shoulder, chest and back pains, and right leg numbness.  On May 24, 1993, Dr. Kullbom examined the employee and concluded:

His complaints today basically overwhelm me.  He has complaints of his neck; his left shoulder hurting and going numb; he has complaints of his back hurting; complaints of the right and left knee…I think that Fred is having a lot of other problems besides his body.  He states that he is out of work and had to move in with his sister, and wants the IME in Seattle for his P.P.I.  I am unable to find objective findings to coincide with his subjective complaints…I have found some evidence on his spinal x-rays of some calcification and spurring consistent with some degenerative change, other than that I have not come up with anything.

Art’s accepted compensability of the employee’s injury paying TTD benefits from April 27, 1993 until July 19, 1993 at a rate of $289.19 per week.
  On July 19, 1993, orthopedic surgeon E. Bruce McCornack, M.D., and neurologist Philip Grisham, M.D., examined the employee at Art’s request.  In their report, Drs. McCornack and Grisham noted the employee took up to five Tylenol per day and had taken up to fifteen per day when he was working, until he was warned by an emergency room physician that it might cause additional liver damage.  During the employee’s physical examination, they noted he was “surprisingly able to do an easy squat and rise.”  Moreover, the employee demonstrated no sensory deficits, and his examination revealed no evidence of back tenderness.  Drs. McCornack and Grisham determined the employee was not disabled as a result of an injury at Art’s, the employee was medically stable, and he has no permanent impairment as a result of his employment at Art’s.  In addition, they concluded:

Review of the records would indicate that Mr. Ellis suffered a spraining injury to his low back in October of 1989 and was noted at that time to have some minor degenerative changes at the lumbosacral junction without evidence of disk herniation.  There has been no other record of a recurrent back injury.  Mr. Ellis indicates that he has had persistent back problems since then, but based on his current evaluation, it would be difficult to assign his complaints to any organic underlying pathology.  He gives no history of an injury at Art’s Cleaning Service, indicating that the work involved a lot of bending, lifting and twisting but does not describe a specific incident in which his back became reinjured but apparently noted a spontaneous and progressive increase in back pain.  It would, therefore, be the Panel’s opinion that there is no clear-cut history of an injury related to Art’s Cleaning Service employment on a more probable than not basis, and we suspect that a portion of Mr. Ellis’ problem represents the natural progression of an underlying degenerative process and remainder significant non-organic pain behavior.

In conjunction with the evaluation by Drs. McCornack and Grisham, psychiatrist Arthur Murray, M.D., performed a psychiatric employer medical independent evaluation (“EIME”).  Dr. Murray referenced the employee’s 7th Grade education and diagnosed the employee with chronic alcohol abuse, somatoform pain disorder, and personality disorder, schizo-type.  In addition, Dr. Murray stated:

Regarding question 2, the relationship between the work-related injury of October 1989—current complaints and work with the cleaning service—the injury of October of 1989 apparently triggered the chronic pain syndrome and the bizarre ideation to explain it.  Further aggravation of his chronic pain resulted from his cleaning service appointment.

As to paragraph 3, Mr. Ellis is disabled, but it is not clearly secondary to an injury incurred at Art’s Cleaning Service but rather an aggravation from the previous injury and chronic pain problem.

Medical stability does not appear present here, and an effort should be made to help this man—despite his near delusional understanding of his condition to gain an explanation as to the irrationality of his concepts and the need for an understanding of the actual diagnosis—somatoform pain disorder.  This can probably best be done by a psychiatrist.

On August 11, 1993, Art’s controverted TTD benefits beyond July 19, 1993 on the basis: “Per independent medical evaluation physicians, there is no evidence of a work-related injury with Art’s Cleaning Service; claimant is not disabled; and claimant is medically stable.”  In addition, KPC controverted all benefits on September 17, 1993 under the last injurious exposure rule.   

On September 1, 1993, the employee returned to Dr. Kullbom, who reported:

Fred is in with a copy of his results from the IME in Seattle on July 19, 1993.  They felt that he was not disabled, and felt that he was not impaired because of any injury at Art’s Cleaning Service and recommended mental health care for his schizophrenia.

We talked to him today and he has a myriad of complaints from his back to his right knee.  These appear to be normal on exam today.  

We told him that we agreed with the results of the IME and that we strongly recommend that he pursue mental health treatment again, and that he get off the substance abuse problem, and that would help him as much as anything.

The last entry by Dr. Kullbom on October 25, 1993 reads as follows:

Fred is in, he is again with complaints of BACK PAIN, RIGHT LEG PAIN, some chronic complaints that he has had for months…

Fred and I have a difference of opinion as to his disability.  I have told him that I think he is not totally disabled, and I think he can lift 10 pounds.  I think he can do a lot of things that would qualify him for employment.  He has some chronic back pain.  He has some chronic mild right sciatica which shows straight leg raising that is tight at about 90 degrees.  He does not have anything that in my opinion qualifies him for surgery.  I don’t see anything that in my opinion totally disables him and I have told him that again today. He and I are at odds, and he is angry with me because I will not totally disable him.  I told him that he needed to seek other orthopedic care and opinions because obviously I  was not satisfying him.  He asked me if I would do a P.P.I., and I told him P.P.I.’s were done at the request of insurance companys (sic), and if I was requested by an insurance company to give a P.P.I. then I would do so.

On December 17, 1993, Art’s controverted all benefits on the additional basis that: “Per Dr. Kullbom’s 10/25/93 [report], no further treatment recommendation.”  The employee filed a claim against KPC and Art’s for benefits on March 10, 1994.  Specifically, the employee requested permanent total disability (“PTD”)
 benefits, medical benefits, $200.00 in transportation costs, vocational rehabilitation and a penalty.  The employee also requested the “maximum” compensation rate and $25.00 in attorneys fees and costs.  At the hearing, the employee testified he has not worked since his employment at Art’s.  He also testified he did not collect any unemployment after working at Art’s because he knew he was not able to work.

On October 25, 1994, the employee went to David Hoeft, M.D., at the Wilson Clinic for a disability examination.  Dr. Hoeft diagnosed chronic back pain without significant objective findings of nerve root impairment or impingement, left shoulder, arm and chest wall pain secondary to multiple contusions and strains suffered in falls, and chronic alcoholism and alcoholic liver disease.  The employee also underwent a disability evaluation with psychiatrist Wandal Winn, M.D., on January 5, 1995.  Dr. Winn noted, “he has occasional insomnia related to pain condition ‘especially when my back is out.’”

The employee’s Department of Veteran’s Affairs (“VA”)
 records reveal X-rays taken in July of 1997 showed mild to moderate spondylosis of the thoracic spine and mild spondylosis of the lumbosacral spine.
  In June of 1997, the employee entered the VA Domicilliary, where he remained until November 5, 1997.  A Domicilliary Biophysical Intake form dated July 24, 1997 states, “Vet reports he suffered an injury to his back 7 years ago which has impacted his ability to work.  He has pain in his back, with numbness and tingling down both legs.”  Upon discharge from the domicilliary, psychiatrist David Kuhaneck, M.D., diagnosed psychotic disorder, alcohol dependence and cannibis dependence, in remission one year by report, and narcisstic personality disorder.  Dr. Kuhaneck also noted the employee took 500 mg Naprosyn each day for back pain.
  

The employee entered the VA Domiciliary for treatment a second time on September 18, 1998.  Ronald Roggenbuck, R.N.P, psychiatry, diagnosed “post-traumatic stress disorder, history of severe depression with psychotic features, history of severe alcohol abuse in remission, back pain secondary to degenerative disk disease, and suspect rotator cuff injury.”  On his VA Domicilliary admittance forms, the employee indicated he took Advil for back pain.

On May 4, 1999, the VA made the following determination: “We found your major depression with psychotic, conversion and post traumatic stress disorder, competent 100% disabling.”  They also determined the employee’s “lumbar strain, hepatitis C with cirrhosis, res 11/71 hepatitis B” were not related to service.  The employee received VA benefits retroactive to October 1, 1997.  The employee testified he currently receives approximately $2,000.00 per month from the VA.  The employee also testified he used a lump sum benefit from the VA to pay past due medical bills.

At the hearing, the employee testified since obtaining VA benefits, he has undergone a significant amount of psychiatric therapy, and he has progressed considerably.  The employee stated he believed he would soon be losing the VA benefits because his post-traumatic stress disorder is in remission.  In addition, he testified since he went to Juneau in the summer of 2000 and began riding a bicycle, his back and leg pain resolved, except for a temporary flare-up in November of 2000.  At the hearing, the employee testified he has no back or leg pain currently.  He stated he is not taking any medication for back pain. 


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Is the employee entitled to medical benefits and time loss benefits from employer Art’s?

This case must be analyzed under the last injurious exposure rule adopted in Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590 (Alaska 1979).  The rule applies when employment with successive employers may contribute to an employee’s disability. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 868, n.1 (Alaska 1985).  This rule, combined with the presumption of compensability afforded by AS 23.30.120(a), “imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.” Saling, 604 P.2d at 595, citing to 4A Larson, The Law of Worker’s Compensation, sec. 95.12 (1979). 
In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability. AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part, “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter.”  

Applying the presumption of compensability is a three-step process. Louisianan Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379 (Alaska 1991).  In the first step, generally, “AS 23.30.120(a)(1) creates the presumption of a compensable disability once the employee has established a preliminary link between employment and injury.” Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 474 (Alaska 1991).  “[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.” Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.  

The Alaska Supreme Court has held, “the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.” Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)). As noted above, a substantial aggravation of a pre-existing condition “imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.” Saling, 604 P.2d at 595, citing to 9 A. Larson, The Law of Worker’s Compensation, §95.12 (1997).  In Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993), the Court stated:

[T]wo determinations...must be made under this rule: “(1) whether employment...aggravated, accelerated, or combined with a pre-existing condition; and, if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a ‘legal cause’ of the disability, i.e., ‘a substantial factor in bringing about the harm.” (quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).

An aggravation, acceleration or combination is a substantial factor in the disability if a reasonable person would regard it as a cause and attach responsibility to it. See, State v. Abbot, 498 P.2d 712, 727 (Alaska 1971). If the employee’s evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume his injury is compensable, and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to the employer.

We find the employee has raised the presumption he suffered a work-related injury at Art’s.  The employee testified he suffered from continued back pain while working at Art’s, where he worked until his symptoms of pain became disabling on April 26, 1993.  The employee stated in his report of occupational injury, “the lifting, twisting, stooping, bending, turning aggravated my entire body to where it could not stand it any longer.”
  In addition, Art’s own EIME, Dr. Murray, diagnosed the employee with somatoform pain disorder and opined the employee’s work at Art’s further aggravated his chronic pain syndrome.  We note the presumption analysis is applied in the case of a physical injury aggravating an underlying psychiatric condition. See, Douglas v. Hills Pet Nutrition, AWCB Decision No. 99-0143 (July 2, 1999).

In the second step, we must determine whether the employer has met its burden of producing contrary evidence. Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).  To rebut the presumption, the employer must produce “substantial evidence” that either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability. Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044 (quoting Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer at 869.  If the employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step. Id. at 870.

We find while Art’s has presented substantial evidence to overcome the presumption that the employee sustained an orthopedic or neurologic injury at Art’s, it has not overcome the presumption that the employee sustained an aggravation of chronic pain syndrome at Art’s.  We agree Dr. McCornack, an orthopedic surgeon, and Dr. Grisham, a neurologist, determined the employee sustained no “clear cut” injury at Art’s after their evaluation of the employee on July 19, 1993.  They also determined the employee was not disabled as a result of an injury at Art’s, the employee was medically stable, and he had no permanent impairment as a result of his employment at Art’s.  We also note Dr. Kullbom, an orthopedic surgeon, agreed the employee was not disabled as a result of his employment at Art’s in his report dated September 1, 1993.  We find this evidence rebuts the presumption that the employee sustained an orthopedic or neurologic injury at Art’s. 

On the other hand, Dr. Murray examined the employee in conjunction with Drs. McCormack and Grisham.  He diagnosed somatoform pain disorder and concluded: “the injury of October of 1989 apparently triggered the chronic pain syndrome and the bizarre ideation to explain it.  Further aggravation of his chronic pain resulted from his cleaning service appointment.” (emphasis added).  Dr. Murray went on to find, “Mr. Ellis is disabled, but it is not clearly secondary to an injury incurred at Art’s Cleaning Service but rather an aggravation from the previous injury and chronic pain problem.” (emphasis added).  In addition, Dr. Murray determined the employee was not medically stable, and he should undergo psychiatric counseling in order to gain “an understanding of the actual diagnosis—somatoform pain disorder.”
 (emphasis added).  We find no evidence rebutting Dr. Murray’s determination of an aggravation of underlying chronic pain syndrome.

Even if we assume Dr. Kullbom’s September 1, 1993 report in which he stated that he “agreed with the results of the IME” and “ they felt that he was not disabled, and felt that he was not impaired because of any injury at Art’s Cleaning Service and recommended mental health care for his schizophrenia” fully rebuts the presumption of compensability, we find the employee proved the compensability of his injury at Art’s by a preponderance of the evidence.  In the third step, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Id.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.” Saxton v. Harris 395 P.2d 71, 72. (Alaska 1964).  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers’ compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee’s favor. Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984); Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d 755, 758 (Alaska 1978).

We have weighed the evidence presented in the medical records, as well as all of the testamentary evidence presented in this case.  We are persuaded the preponderance of the evidence demonstrates the employee sustained an aggravation of somatoform pain disorder or chronic pain syndrome at Art’s.  The employee testified he was not able to work after his employment at Art’s due to significant back and leg pain.  The employee further testified he did not apply for unemployment benefits after he left Art’s because he knew he was not able to work.  We find the employee’s testimony regarding symptoms of pain is credible, particularly in light of his testimony regarding his current condition. AS 23.30.122.  

Furthermore, as noted above, Dr. Murray diagnosed the employee with somatoform pain disorder on July 19, 1993, and he concluded the employee’s work at Art’s aggravated his chronic pain syndrome.  Additionally, even EIME physicians Drs. McCornack and Grisham attributed the employee’s complaints to the natural progression of an underlying degenerative process and “significant non-organic pain behavior.”
  Moreover, Dr. Hoeft diagnosed chronic back pain in 1994, and Dr. Winn noted the employee’s “pain condition” on January 5, 1995.

Turning to Dr. Kullbom, we find the opinions presented by him in 1993 and his interpretation of the EIME report most perplexing.  In his report dated September 1, 1993, he purports to agree with the EIME physicians that the employee is not disabled and that the employee was not impaired because of any injury at Art’s.  Yet, Dr. Kullbom utterly fails to recognize Dr. Murray’s clear diagnosis of somatoform pain syndrome, his opinion regarding a causal connection between work at Art’s and an aggravation of his condition, his determination that the employee is not medically stable, his recommendation for psychiatric treatment, and his statement that “an effort should be made to help this man.”  Instead, Dr. Kullbom merely suggests the employee seek mental health care “for his schizophrenia.”
 

On the other hand, in his last report dated October 25, 1993, Dr. Kullbom seems to acknowledge the employee’s chronic back pain.  Moreover, though he stated the employee was not “totally disabled,” he limited the employee to lifting 10 pounds, which we interpret as not releasing the employee to work at Art’s.  In addition, Dr. Kullbom refused to do a PPI rating unless it was at the insurance company’s request.  Again, we are puzzled by the contradictory opinions provided by Dr. Kullbom, and we give them very little weight. AS 23.30.122.  

Therefore, based on the above, we find the employee demonstrated work at Art’s aggravated his underlying psychiatric condition by a preponderance of the evidence.  However, the employee has not requested payment for any medical bills.  Therefore, we cannot award medical benefits at this time.  In addition, we find the employee’s request for PTD benefits must fail, as he testified his back and leg pain resolved during the summer of 2000, when he began riding a bicycle.  The employee also testified at the hearing that he currently has no symptoms of back and leg pain, and he is not taking pain medication.  Therefore, we find the employee cannot raise the presumption that he is entitled to PTD benefits. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 at 871.

Nonetheless, we find we may interpret the employee’s claim for PTD benefits as a claim for time loss benefits, and we find the employee is entitled to time loss benefits after July 20, 1993.  We rely on the employee’s testimony of continued complaints of back pain after the injury at Art’s in 1993.  We particularly note Dr. Murray’s determination that the employee was not medically stable when he evaluated him in July of 1993.  We also note documentation of continued complaints of back pain since 1993 in the medical records provided by Dr. Hoeft, Dr. Winn, psychiatric nurse Roggenbuck, and the VA records.  

However, we also find the employee testified his condition improved and his pain resolved after he began riding a bicycle in the summer of 2000.  Therefore, we find the employee became medically stable on June 1, 2000.
  Consequently, we find the employee is entitled to TTD benefits from July 20, 1993 through June 1, 2000.  We understand the employee attributes his improvement in the summer of 2000 to riding a bicycle.  Nevertheless, we find it compelling that the employee’s pain condition dramatically improved after he underwent psychiatric treatment through the VA, and we recall Dr. Murray’s recommendation for psychiatric treatment many years ago. 

2. Is the employee entitled to time loss and medical benefits from employer KPC?

A. Is the employee’s claim barred under AS 23.30.105(a)?

AS 23.30.105(a) provides:

The right to compensation for disability under this chapter is barred unless a claim for it is filed within two years after the employee has knowledge of the nature of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement.  However, the maximum time for filing the claim in any event other than arising out of an occupational disease shall be four years from the date of injury…except that if payment of compensation has been made without an award on account of the injury or death, a claim may be filed within two years after the date of the last payment of benefits…It is additionally provided that, in the case of latent defects pertinent to and causing compensable disability, the injured employee has full right to claim as shall be determined by the board, time limitations notwithstanding.

According to 7 Arthur Larson & Lex Larson, Larson’s Worker’s Compensation Law, Sec. 126.05[1], at 126-128 (2001):

The time period for notice of claim does not begin to run until the claimant, as a reasonable person, should recognize the nature, seriousness, and probable compensable character of his injury or disease.

In addition, the Supreme Court has concluded, “One does not know the nature of one’s disability and the relationship of the disability to one’s employment until one knows of the disability’s full effect on one’s earning capacity.” Egemo v. Egemo Construction Company,   (Alaska 2000) citing Leslie Cutting Inc. et al v. Bateman, 833 P.2d 691, 694 (Alaska 1992).  Moreover, in W.R. Grasle Co. v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 517 P.2d 999, 1002 (Alaska 1974), the Supreme Court found for latent injuries the two year statute of limitation is tolled “so long as the claimant does not know, and in the exercise of reasonable diligence (taking into account his education, intelligence, and experience) would not have come to know, the nature of his disability and its relation to employment.”

Based on the above, we find the employee did not have full knowledge of the nature of his injury and its connection to work at KPC until Dr. Murray diagnosed somatoform pain disorder on July 19, 1993 and attributed the triggering of the employee’s chronic pain syndrome to the October, 1989 work injury at KPC.  Therefore, we find the employee filed his claim on  March 10, 1994 in a timely manner pursuant to AS 23.30.105(a).  In determining whether the employee’s claim against KPC is barred by the statute of limitations, we have also considered the employee’s education and psychiatric diagnoses. Id.  Furthermore, we find the employee exercised reasonable diligence in furtherance of his work injury at KPC.  He was fired in early December of 1989, and KPC provided no further worker’s compensation benefits.  Nevertheless, he pursued physical therapy and medical treatment until Dr. Shields’ office indicated they could do no more for him, and he could not afford additional treatment in Seattle, Washington.

B. Is the employee entitled to any time loss or medical benefits from employer KPC?

In our analysis, we must first apply the statutory presumption of compensability.  AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part, “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter.”

Applying the presumption of compensability is a three-step process. Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379. In the first step, generally, “AS 23.30.120(a)(1) creates the presumption of a compensable disability once the employee has established a preliminary link between employment and injury.” Wien Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 474.  “[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.” Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation. Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.  If the employee’s evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume his injury is compensable, and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to the employer. 

The employee testified he has experienced back pain since his work injury at KPC in October of 1989 until approximately the summer of 2000, when the pain resolved.  In addition, on December 4, 1989, Dr. Edwards diagnosed a back strain, and Dr. Shields restricted the employee to light work.  Moreover, Dr. Murray found, “the injury of October of 1989 apparently triggered the chronic pain syndrome and the bizarre ideation to explain it.”  Furthermore, while EIME physicians Drs. McCornack and Grisham failed to find a work injury at Art’s, they diagnosed a spraining injury to the employee’s low back in October of 1989.  Therefore, we find the employee has raised the presumption he sustained a back strain at KPC on October 25, 1989, which triggered chronic pain syndrome and is entitled to benefits.  We note:

…when there has been a physical accident or trauma, and claimant’s disability is increased or prolonged by traumatic neurosis, conversion hysteria, or hysterical paralysis, it is now uniformly held that the full disability including the effects of the neurosis is compensable. 

7 Arthur Larson & Lex Larson, Larson’s Worker’s Compensation Law, Sec. 56.03[1], at 56-9 (2001).

In the second step, we must determine whether the employer has met its burden of producing contrary evidence. Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d at 665.  To rebut the presumption, the employer must produce “substantial evidence” that either (1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability. Grainger v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 977. “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044 (quoting Thornton v. Alaska Workmen’s Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966)).   Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation. Veco v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 869.  If the employer produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability, the presumption drops out, and we move to the third step. Id. at 870.

We find the employer has not presented substantial evidence to overcome the presumption the employee sustained a back strain on October 25, 1989, which triggered chronic pain syndrome.  We find no medical opinions to counter those offered by Dr. Shields, Dr. McCornack, Dr. Grisham and Dr. Murray.  Furthermore, we find the employer has not presented evidence to overcome the presumption the employee is entitled to benefits.  On December 4, 1989, Dr. Shields restricted the employee to light-duty work.  We find no evidence the employee was returned to light-duty work at KPC prior to being terminated on December 7, 1989.  Indeed, we find evidence the employer had no light work to offer based on the employee’s statements to Dr. Shields on November 3, 1989 that light duty work was “not possible.”  
Furthermore, even if we found the employer rebutted the presumption of compensability, we would find the employee proved his entitlement to benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  In the third step, the employee bears the burden of proving all the elements of the claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Id.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.” Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d at 72.

We have weighed the employee’s testimony, as well as the medical evidence in the record.  We are persuaded the preponderance of the evidence shows the employee sustained a back strain, which triggered chronic pain syndrome, at KPC on October 25, 1989.  We rely on the diagnosis of a back strain by Dr. Edwards in December of 1989, as well as Dr. Shields’ and Dr. Edwards’ light-duty work restriction on December 4, 1989.  We also rely on the EIME report by Drs. McCornack, Grisham, Murray, as described above.  Additionally, the employee sought physical therapy after his termination from KPC, and he attempted to secure funds for treatment in Seattle in 1990, but he was unable to do so.  We also find the medical record is replete with the employee’s complaints of back pain since 1989, and we have already deemed the employee’s testimony regarding symptoms of pain credible.  

While we find the employee sustained a work-related injury at KPC, KPC’s liability is limited to the time the employee began working at Art’s on August 31, 1992 under the last injurious exposure rule.  However, the employee has not submitted any bills for outstanding medical treatment.  Therefore, we cannot award any medical benefits at this time. 

Additionally, though the employee may be entitled to time loss benefits from December 4, 1989, when Dr. Shields and Dr. Edwards restricted the employee to light duty, through August 31, 1992, the employee received unemployment benefits from December 30, 1989 through June 23, 1990 and again from December 23, 1990 through April 20, 1991.  The employee also testified he worked in 1992 prior to working at Art’s, though he provided no specific dates.  Therefore, we are unable to award any time loss benefits at this time.  We retain jurisdiction on these matters.

3. Is the employee entitled to a penalty and interest?

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(d)...If the employer controverts the right to compensation after payments have begun, the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of  controversion within seven days after an installment of compensation payable without an award is due...

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section...

(o) The board shall promptly notify the division of insurance if the board determines that the employer’s insurer has frivolously or unfairly controverted compensation due under this chapter.  After receiving notice from the board, the division of insurance shall determine if the insurer has committed an unfair claim settlement practice under AS 21.36.125.

The record reflects KPC controverted benefits on September 17, 1993 on the basis of the last injurious exposure rule.  In addition, Art’s controverted TTD benefits on August 11, 1993 on the basis: “Per Independent Medical Evaluation Physicians, there is no evidence of a work-related injury with Art’s Cleaning Service; Claimant is not disabled; And Claimant is medically stable.”  On December 17, 1993, Art’s controverted all benefits and added, “Per Dr. Kullbom’s 10/25/93, no further treatment recommendations.”  However, in Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992), the Alaska Supreme Court held:

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty...For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

Though we have retained jurisdiction over the employee’s claims for benefits related to his work at KPC, we have not awarded any benefits to the employee from KPC.  Therefore, we cannot award any penalties in this decision and order.  However, we retain jurisdiction over the employee’s claim for a penalty assessed against KPC.   

On the other hand, we have awarded TTD benefits to the employee stemming from his work at Art’s.  We find neither of Art’s controversion notices in August and December of 1993 were filed in good faith pursuant to Harp.  We find the controversion notices are not sufficient to rebut the presumption of compensability given the opinions cited in EIME physician Dr. Murray’s report.  Therefore, we find the employee is entitled to a penalty on the TTD benefits awarded above.  In addition, we will refer this matter to the Division of Insurance pursuant to AS 23.30.155(o).

Additionally, our regulation 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at the statutory rate from the date at which each installment of compensation is due. See Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P.2d 1187 (Alaska 1984); Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992) and Childs v. Copper Valley Electrical Association, 860 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Alaska 1993).  Therefore, we conclude the employee is due interest on the above-awarded TTD benefits.

Finally, in his March, 1994 claim, the employee also requested reemployment benefits, a compensation rate adjustment, transportation costs, and attorneys fees and costs.  However, the employee has not undergone a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation, nor has he presented any evidence for a compensation rate adjustment, transportation costs, or attorneys fees and costs.  Therefore, we will not address these issues.

Because we have retained jurisdiction over more than one issue presented in this matter, we will remand this case to prehearing officer Cathy Gaal to schedule a prehearing.  The employee will be provided with a list of attorneys at this prehearing, should he wish to retain counsel.


ORDER
1. Art’s Cleaning Service, shall pay the employee TTD benefits from July 20, 1993 through June 1, 2000.

2. We retain jurisdiction to determine whether the employee is entitled to any medical benefits from Art’s Cleaning Service.

3. We retain jurisdiction to determine whether the employee is entitled to any medical benefits or time loss benefits from Ketchikan Pulp Company.

4. Art’s Cleaning Service shall pay the employee a penalty on the TTD benefits awarded above.

5. Art’s Cleaning Service shall pay interest on the TTD benefits awarded above.

6. We retain jurisdiction whether the employee is entitled to any penalties or interest from Ketchikan Pulp Company.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 19th day of March, 2002.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of FREDRICK W. ELLIS employee / applicant; v. ARTS CLEANING SERVICE;KETCHIKAN PULP COMPANY, employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO; LOUISIANA - PACIFIC CORP, insurer / defendants; Case Nos. 199307678, 198927513; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 19th day of March, 2002.

                             

   _________________________________

      




                                           Shirley A.DeBose, Clerk
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� Injury report dated 8/18/75.


� Report of Occupational Injury dated 10/27/89.


� Id.


� Dr. Wilson’s physician’s report dated 10/31/89.


� Compensation Report dated 11/9/90.


� Dr. Edwards’ 12/4/89 chart note.


� Dr. Shields’ 12/5/89 report.


� Ketchikan General Hospital records dated 8/88/90, 9/28/90 and 10/4/90.


� Id. dated 3/26/91.


� Dr. Kullbom’s 8/12/91 chart note.


� The employee testified he drove a cab for a little while before working for Art’s, but he did not testify as to specific dates of employment.


� Report of Occupational Injury dated 4/26/93.


� Id.


� Compensation Report dated 8/25/93.


� Report by Drs. McCornack and Grisham dated 7/19/93.


� The employee also filed a claim for PTD benefits on 4/3/01.


� Records from the Department of Veterans’ Affairs indicate the employee served in the Army in Vietnam from 1969-1972.


� Radiologic reports dated 7/11/97.


� Dr. Kuhaneck’s report dated 1/21/98.


� Admittance forms dated 9/15/98.


� Report of Occupational Injury dated 4/26/93.


� Dr. Murray’s 7/19/93 report.


� Drs. McCornack and Grisham’s report dated 7/19/93.


� Dr. Kullbom’s report dated 9/1/93.


� AS 23.30.395(21) states, “’medical stability’ means the date after which further objectively measurable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility  of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence;
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